EXHIBITS OF JOINT COMMITTEE 2393

EXHIBIT NO. 107A
CONFIDENTIAL

w1

THE FINDINGS, CONCLUSICNS AND ACTIOHN
BY THE SECRETARY OF THE HNAVY

(A) Findings, Conclusions and Order.

On 13 August 1945 Secretary of the Navy James Forrestal, in
his fourth endorsement to the record of proceedings of the Pearl Harbor
Court of Inyuiry made the offitizl findings and conclusions of the
Navy Department, and his orcder as Secretary assessing responsibility

for the Fearl Harbor disaster.

The endorsement of 13 Auvgust 1945 that was signed by Secre-
tary Forrestal has had deleted from it certain "TOP-SECKET" matter
since, pursuant to the direction of the President, the findings and
conclusions were to be made public. The endorsement with deletions

therefrom was made public by the President on 29 August 1945.

The complete endorsement of Secretary Forrestal containing
the findings, conclusions and action of the Navy in respect to Lhe

Pearl Harbor disaster is as follows:

" 1. Pursuant to kxecutive Order dated 12 December 1941, a
commission headed by Mr. Justice Owen J. KRoberts conducted an investi-
gation into the facts surrounding the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor,
The commission reported its findings on 23 January :942. The com-

mission concluded in part that:
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"17, In the light of the warnings and directione
to take aprropriate action, tranemitted to both commanders
between November 27 and December 7, and the obligation under
the system of coordination then in effect for joint cooper-
ative action on their part, it was a dereliction of duty
on the part of each of them not to consult and confer with
the other reepecting the meaning and intent of the warninge,
and the appropriate measures of defemnee required by the
imminence of hostilities, The attitude of each, that he was
not required to inform himself of and his lack of interest
in, the measures undertaken by the other to carry out the
responeidility assigned to such other under the provisione
of the plans then in effect, demonstrated on the part of
each a lack of appreciation of the responsidilities vested
in them and inherent in their positions as commarder in
chief, Pacific Flest, a;xd commanding genersl, Hawaiian

Department,”
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2. Pursuant to precept of the Secretary of the Navy dated
12 February 1944, Admiral Thomas C. Hart, USN (Retired), conducted an
examination of witneasses having knowledge of facts in connection with the
Japanese attack. Ach.iral Hart completed his examination on 15 June 1944.

3. Public Law No. 339, 78th Congress, approved 13 June 1944,
directed the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy, geverally,
to proceed forthwith with an investigation into the facts surrounding the
Pearl Harbor catastrophe, and to coammence such proceedings against such
persons as the facts might justify.

be A Court of Inquiry, consisting of Admiral Orin G. Murfin,
USK (Retired), Admiral Edward C. Kalbfus, USN (Retired), and Vice
Admiral Adolphus Andrews, USN (Retired), with Commander Harold
Blesemeier, USN, as Judge Advocate, was appointed on 13 July 1944. The
Court was directed to convene on 17 July 1944, or as soon thereafter as
practicable, for the purpose of inquiring into all circumstances connected
with the attack made by Japanese forces on Pearl Harbor, Territory of
Hawaii, on 7 December 1941; to inquire thoroughly into the matter, and to
include in its findings & full statement of the facts it might deem to be
established. The Court was further directed to state its opinion as to
whether any offenses were committed or serious blame incurred on the part
of any person or persons in the Naval service, and, in case its opinion
was that offensee had been committed or serious blame incurred, to recommend
specifically what further proceedings should be had.

5o The Court of Inquiry commenced its proceedings on 31 July
1944, and submitted the record of its proceedings on 20 October 1944.
Certain portions of the record of proceedings before the Court, including

the findings and opinion of the Court, have been classified "TOP SECRET,"
and the balance "SECRET.®
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6. The net result of the findings of fact and opinion of the

Pearl Harbor Navel Court of Inquiry, as reviewed by Judge Advocate General
of the Navy, and the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet and Chief of Naval
Operations, and by me, was that the evidence secured by the Court did

not warrant and would not support the trial by general court martial of
any peraon or persons in the Naval Service.

1. In my Third Endorsement to the Record of Proceedings of the
Pearl Harbor Court of Inquiry, dated 1 December 1944, I found that the
evidence obtained indicated that there were errors of judgment on the
part of Admiral Kimmel and Admiral Stark, but that the investigation
had not gone to the point of exhaustion of all possible evidence. Ac-
cordingly, I directed that further 1nv'nat:igation would be conducted by an
investigation officer and that pending the completion of the necessary
further investigation I would withhold decision as to the institution of
any proceeding against any naval officer involved.

8. In order to insure that the further investigation would cover
every caterial question, I directed that a thorough review be made of the
prior investigations and that an appropriate summary of all information
developed in the prior Naval investigations be prepared. Upon the completion
of this review of prior investigations and after examinution of the regort
of the Army Poarl Harbor Board, dated 3 Deceuwber 1944, I apoointed Admiral H.
Hewitt, USN, as investigating officer, and John F. Sonnett aa counsel to
examine such witneeses and obtain such other evidence as might be necessary
in order fully to develop the facts in connection with the Jaganese attack on
Pearl Harbor. The further investigation directed by my precept of 2 May 1945
waa completed on 12 July 1945 and the report by Admiral Hewitt was forwarded

to the Judge Advocate General and the Commander in Chief, United States
Fleet and Chief of Naval Operations for recommendation and comment.
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9. In his Second Endorsement to Admiral Hewitt's Report of
further investigation, dated 10 August 1945, the Judge Advocate General ad-
vised, among other things, that he did not believe that there wes sufficient
evicence to werrzrt conviction of any of the officers concerned of any
offense known to Naval Law; that the evidence indicated that the officers
in question lacked superior judgment rather than b;ing guilty of culpable
inefficiency; and that "lack of superior judgment" is not an offense triable
by general court martial. The Judge Advocate General further advised in
his Second Endorsesent that: #I am of the opinion that any such court-
mertial proceedings prior to the end of hostilities with Japan is highly
impractical and would be detrimental to the war effort, and further, that
any such proceedings during the six :z;onths immedietely following the end
of hostilities would seriously impair the efficiency of the Nayal service.®
Notwithstanding the difficulties pointed out by him, the Judge Advocate
General was of the opinion, however, that the Navy Department is mortlllly
obligated to order Admiral Kiimsel tried by general court martial should
Admiral Kimmel so insist. The Judge Advocate General recommended that
Admiral Hewitt's investigation be made available to Admiral Kimmel and his
counsel; that Admiral Kimmel be informed that he is free to make public
anything contained in this record and in prior records as soon as that
may be done without prejudice to the public interests; and that if Admiral
Kimmel insists, a general court martial should be convened to try him for
any alleged offenses he may have cammitted on or before 7 December 1941.

10. In the Third Endorsement to Admiral Hewitt's report, dated 13
August 1945, the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet, concurred generally in the
remarks and recommendations of the Judge Advocate General and expressed the

opinion that the evidence was not sufficient to warrant trial by court martial
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of any person in the Naval aervice in that it would not sustain the charges

required by the Articles for the Government of the Navy; that with regard
to the sufficiency of the evidence to warrant other proceedings, the
Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet was still of the opinion that Admiral
Stark and Admiral Kimmel, although not culpable to a degree warranting
formal disciplinary ncdot'z, nevertheleas lacked the superior judgment
necessary for exercising command commensurate with their duties, and that
appropriate action, consisting of the relegation of these officers to
positions in which lack of superior judgment might not result in future
errora, had been taken as to Admiral Stark and Admiral Kimmel, and stated
that no further action was recommended. The Commander in Chief, U. S.
Fleet, also advised, in the Third Endorsement, that in any event he
considered it impracticable to bring Admiral Stark or Admiral Kimmel to
trial prior to the termination of hostilities with Japan because such pro-
ceedinze would almost certainly involve disclosure of information which would
be detri.ntal to current military operations and to national security
measures. He cancurred in the opinién of the Judge Advocate General that
the Navy Department is morally obligated to arder Admiral Kimmel to trial
before a general court martial should Admiral Kimmel so insist, but stated
that this action should not be taken until after the completion of hostilities
with Japan. He concurred in the further suggestions of the Judge Advocate
General that Admiral Hewitt's investigation be made availabde to Admiral
Kimmel and his counsel and that Admiral Kimmel be infarmsd that he is free
to make public anything contazined in this record and in prior records as
soon as that may be done without prejudice to natianal security.

1l. The caments of the Judge Advocate General and of the Commander-
in-Chief, U. S. Fleet and Chief of Naval Operations, in their endorsements to
the Pearl Harbor Court of Inquiry record, and in their endorsements to the
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report by Admiral Hewitt, are approved subject to the following remarks:
(a) Court of Inquiry Finding II (1156). This finding states,

in substance, that the presence in Pearl Harbor on 7 December 1941 of
Task Force One and the battleships of Task Farce Two was necessary.

The essential point here rests in Admiral Kimmel's state-
ment to the effect that he would not have had the Fleet in Pearl
Harbor had he anticipated an air attack. The Second Endarsement in-
dicates that the Commander in Chief, U. S. Flest, does not entirely
ngo along" with the opinion of the Court that the information avail-
able to Admiral Kimmel did not require any departure from his opsration
and maintenance schedules. The Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet,
states further in this connection that Admiral Kimmel could have
rotated the "in port" periods of his vessels in less routine manner,

80 as to have made it impossible for the Japanese to have pmdlot.lad
when there would be any vessels in port, and that this would have made
the Japanese task less easy. I concur in the comments of the Commander
in Chief, U. S. Fleet, & to this finding.

(b) Court of Inquiry Finding III (1156) This finding

states that, "Constitutiomal requirements that war be declared by
Congress , o " make it difficult to prevent an attack and precluded
offensive action as a means of defense, and that Admiral Kimmel had
the responsibility of avoiding overt acts.

The Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet, comments that
this gives an unscrupulous enemy a great advantage, and that the
Constitutional requirement preventing offensive action as a means
of defense was a definite hand_icnp. It does not appear that there
was any praximate casual relationship between the Constitutiomal

requirement and the instant disaster. The Constitutional inhibition
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and the injunction as to overt acts did not preclude either long distance
reconnaiasance or a sortie by the Fleet. Further, it appeara that prior
to 7 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel did not regard this Constitutional pro-
vieion or his responsibility to avoid overt acts as sufficient to prevant
the issuance of orders to bomb unidentified submarines found in operat-
ing areas.
(¢) Court of Inquiry Finding IV (1159). This states That
Admiral Bloch was subordinate to Admiral Kimmel, and was charged with
t.t!o task of assisting the Army in the defense of Pearl Harbor and,
oconsequently, Admiral Bloch had a responsibility for naval measures
concerned with local defense.
It should be noted in this comnection that Admiral
Hewitt found:
%75. No patrol planes were under the command of
Admiral Bloch. The only Navy planes suitable for long
distance reconnaissance were the Pacific Fleet patrol planes.
n76., The Pacific Fleet patrol planes were under
the control of Admiral Kimmel, and he had the responsi-
bility for their utilization. They were operated after
22 November 1941, in accordance with schedules approved by
him at that time, which were not revised prior to the attack.

The schedules stressed training operations. They did not
provide for distant reconnaissance from Qahu.*

(d) Court of Inquiry Finding V (1160). The Court here
finds that relations between Admiral Kimmel and General Short were
friendly, cordial and cooperative; that they invariably conferred
when important messages were received, and that each was sufficiently
cognizant of the measures being taken by the other.

In this connection the following conclusions by
Admiral Hewitt are approved: &

%1, The basic war plans and the local d plan
were sound and were designodpto meet, with tﬁe u-:ﬁzﬁe mou'u,
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various types of attack, including an attack such as the one
which was delivered. The basic war plans and the local air
defense plans were not operative in time to meet that attack.

The Rainbow Five war plans presupposed the existence of a
state of war. The local air defense plans presupposed agree-
ment between the local commanders that an attack was iminent.
Neither of these was the case prior to the attack.

n2, The system of command in effect in the Hawaiian area
was that of mutual cooperation and not unity of command.
Cooperation between the local Army and Navy commanders required
agreement as to the imminence of attack, which presupposed the
possession and exchange of information concerning Japanese
intentions and movements of Japanese naval forces.

%3, A full exchange of information is necessary to the
effective exercise of Joint Command. While there was consider-
able exchange of information between various Army and Navy
intelligence agencies there was no organized system to ensure
such exchange.¥

The evidence obtained by Admiral Hewitt indicates that there

were informal arrangements for the exchange of intelligence by the

Army and Navy at Hawaii, which included the transmission to the Army

of some information concerning Japanese ship movements. The evidence
obtained both by Admiral Hewitt and by the Naval Court of Inquiry
indicates, however, that neither Admiral Kimmel nor General Short was
sufficiently informed of the degree of readiness put into effect by the
other. It appears that after receipt of the "war warning® and prior

to 7 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel and General Short conferred on several
occasions. They discussed the reenforcement of Midway and Wake. It
does not appear that they discussed the conditions of readiness placed
in effect or to be placed in effect, or the question or advisability

of placing in effect air reconnaissance. General Short testifiea before
the Raval Court that after a conference with Admiral Kimmel, he placed
in effect Army Alert No. 1 (the anti-sabotage alert). Admiral Kimmel
testified that he did not know what alert the Army bad in effect, and

that he made no specific inquiry of General Short in this connection.
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That there wae not full mutual exchmnge of intelligence alse
a;meu'sr from the evidence. Admiral Kimmel received dispatches after 27
November 1941 relating to Japanese destruction of codes and isntructions
to United States outlying ielandes to destroy classified material, Ee
testified before the Naval Court that he did not direct that these be
furnished to General Short, and that he did not ¥now whether or not'they
were furnished to him. General Short testified that he had not seen
these dispatches.

In view of these facts, I cannot agree with the above finding
by the Naval Court of Inq'niry. The system of mutual cooperation, of Jjoint
command, was not working effectively - it failed. In thie connection the
following oconclusion of Admiral Eewitt is approved:

"War experience has shown that: The responsibility for
final major decisions must devolve on one person; that is, there
xust be "unity of command."

However, in respect of the above conclusion of Admiral Hewitt,
it is important to point out that the experience of this war hae con~
clusively dsmonetrated that there is no inconsistency between the
existence of two or more separate military or naval organicatione as the
functioning forcea and an effective exercise of unity of command in a
theater or in an operation. Practically all of the major operations of
this war have been accomplished dy two or more distinct military organiza-
tions, some even belonging to diverse nations, but all acting under a
unifisd command. In such an operation, the commanders of the several
forces and their staffe must function in close physical proximity,
usually in the higher echelons sharing a common headquarters or command post.

1 do not find, howvever, that Admiral Kimmel is open to
criticism for having failed to adviee the Arxy at Pearl Harbor that a sub-

marine contact had been made on the morning of 7 December 1941, shortly
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prior to the air attack. The evidence obtained by Admiral Hewitt supports
the following conclusions by him, which is approved:

%26, The attempt to obtain confirmation of the reported sud-
marine attack off Pearl Harbor was proper, although it should have
been effected in plain language. Adequate naval action was taken in
sending out the ready destroyer. This information vas of no immed-
iate interest to the Army unless it in fact indicated imminency of
an air attack, an assumption which was not necessarily logical,

In any event, confirmation was not received until the air attack
had commenced."

(e) Court of Inquiry Finding VI (1160). This states in
substance that unavoidabdle deficiancies in personnel and material had
a bearing on the effectiveness of the local defense of Pearl EHarbor.

The Commander in Chief, U, 8. Flest, points out, however, that
the pertinent question ie whether Admiral Kimmel used the means availadle
to the best advantage. I concur in this comment of the Commander in Chief
U, 8. Neet.

(£) Court of Inquiry Minding VII (1265), The Court finds
that Japan had an initial advantage decause of the Japanese Fleet's
numerical superiority, and the Iuporiérity of Japenese espionage.

Theccomment in the Second Endorsement on this point is confined
to the general statement that factors such as those referred to by the
Court will always place this nation at a disadvantage during a period of
strained relations. This finding, of course, in general was correct.
Hevertheless, as applied to the specific h.-un here presented, it over-
looks the fact that:

(1) The numerical superiority of the Japenees Fleet was well
known to Admiral Stark and to Admiral Kimmel, eand this fact wae teken into
account in the war plans;

(2) Although unquestionadly the United States was placed at a

disadvantage in restraining Jananese esplonage activities, the Navy and
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War Departments were nevertheless not without important Intelligemce

advantages of their own which were not availed of to the fullest extent.

(g) Court of Inquiry Finding VIII (1167)s This states that.it
was the direct responsibtdlity of the Army to defend Pearl Harbor Naval

Base, and that the Navy was to assist only with the means provided the
Naval District.
The Comsander in Chief, U.S. Fleet, is in agresment with *the

fundanental concept of naval warfare® discussed by the Court, but takes
a more realistic view an this point. He points ocut that Admiral Kimmel
was fully aware that in view of the weakness of local defense, the Fleet
had to be employed to protect Pear)l Harbor. With this I concur. It is to
be noted, moreover, that under the defense plan the Ravy was responsible
for the maintenance of distant recommaissance.

(h) Court of Inquiry Finding IX (1169)s The Oocurt finds that

the air defense plams were defective because of the necessity for reliance
upon Fleet aircraft which could not be made permanently available for
local defense.

The Second Endorsement states that the Court bas overstressed the
fact that the only patrol planes in the area were Pleet planes; that it was
sound policy to place all such mircraft at Adsiral Kimmel's disposal; that
it was his reeponsidbility to dloc;te the planes as best he could; that
the available aircraft had tobe employed in the manner best suited to the
danger that threatened; that it is doubtful whether with the svailable
forces it would have been possible to destroy the carriers bafore they
launched their planes, except by a lucky chance; that Admiral Kimmel was
not sufficiently alive to the situation, not emtirely due to his om fault;
and that this had a bearing on the amount of damage resulting from the
attacke I concur in the caments of the Commander in Chief, U. S. Flset,

with respect to this finding. 683
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(1) Court of Inquiry Findings IV (1159). VIII (1167),

X (1169).

Based on these findings the oonolusion of the Court is that Admiral. Bloch
satisfactorily performed his duties.
The Commender in Chief, U, S, Fleet, oconcurs. This conclusion is
approvede
(3) Gourt of Inquiry Finding X (1171). This holds adequate

and effective Admiral Kimsel's provisions for the security of the Fleet
at sea.
The Commmnder in Chief, U. 8¢ Fleet, concurs, This finding is
approved.
(k) Court of Inquiry Finding X¥ (1173). The substance of
this finding is that Adeirs]l Kimmel was maintaining the highest cmditiom

of readiness called for by the information availadble to him, and that a
higher oondition of readiness would have added 1ittle to the defense.

In the Second Pndorsement it is pointed out that in fact the
condition of readiness being maintained at the time of the attack was
only that condition which is normally maintained when in port. This is
maintsined on the assumption that the shore defemses are adequate to pro-
tect the Fleet, Such was not the case at Pearl Harbor, as Admiral Kimmel
imew,

The Commsnder in Chief, U. S. Flest, further states that he does
not agree with the eonclusion of the Court that a higher condition of
readiness would have added little to the defense, and is of the view that
the information available to Admirel Kimmel called far a tighteming up
of the defense precautions as 7 December spproached. With the comments of
the Comander in Chief, U. S. Flaet, I conour.
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(1) Court of Inquiry Finding XIT (1176). The Court here

finds that there was no infarmation indicating that Japanese carriers
were on their way to attack Pearl Harbor, and that it was not possitle
to prevent or to predioct that attack.

The Second Endorsenent to the Naval Court record states on this
point: "There was infarmation that might logically have been interpreted
as indicating that an attack on Hawaii was not unlikely, and that the time
could be predicted within fairly narrow limits.®

It 48 to be noted that one of the principal matters covered in
Admiral Hewitt's investigation was the information available to Admiral
Kimmel, particularly during the critical period from 27 November to
7 December 1941, concerning the location and movements of Japanese naval
forces. This information, which consisted principally of daily radio
intelligence summaries setting forth the results of monitoring Japanese
naval commnications and estimates by the Fleet Intelligence Officer, is
set forth in soms detail at peges 112-11}, inolusive, of Admiral Hewitt'as
reparte It there appears that there was an umusual change in Japanese
naval radio calls on 1 December 19413 that this was regarded as indicating
an additional progressive step in preparing for active operations om a
large scale; that on 2 Deocember 1941 Adwirel Kimmel conferred with his
Flest Intelligence Officer as to the wheresabouts of Japanese fleet units,
and that during that conference Admiral Kimmal noticed and commented on
the absence of information in the Fleet Intelligence Officer's written
estimate as to Japansse Carrier Divisions ) and 2, which consisted of four
carriers, (It has since been learned that these four carriers were among
the six carriers which in faoct were then on the high seas heading toward
Pearl Harbor.) The other Japansse carriers were located by the Fleet

Intelligence Officer in his written estimate, in Japanese home waters,
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with the exception of possidly one oarrier in the Marshalls. In his
testimony before Admiral Hewitt, the Fleet Intelligence Officer described
his conversation with Admiral Kimmel on 2 December 1941 as follows:

"Mr, SONFETT: Will you state the substance of what he eaid and
wvhat you sald, as best you recall it?

SCAPTAIN LAYTON: As best I recall it, Admiral Kimmel said, 'What!
You don't know where Carrier Divieion 1 and Carrier Divieion 3
are?’ and I replied, '¥o, sir, I do not. I think they are in home
waters, dbut I do not know where they are. The rest of these

unite, I feel pretty confident of their location.'! Then Admiral
Ximmel looked at me, as sometimes he would, with eomewhat a stern
countenance and yet partially with a twinkle in-his eye and said,
Do you mean to say that they could de rounding Diamond Head and
you wouldn't know 1t?' or words to that effect. My reply was that,
'I hope they would be sighted before now!, or words to that effect.”

*MR. SONNETT: Your testimony, Captain, was not quite clear to
me, arising out of your description of Admiral Kimmel's twinkle
in hie eye when he spoke. What I am trying to get at is thise:
Was the diecussion about the abeence of information concerning
Cardive 1 and 2 a serious or jocular one?

"CAPTAIN LAYTON: His question was abeolutely serious, dut when
he said, 'Where are Cardive 1 and 2', and I said, 'I do not
know precisely, but if I must estimate, I would say that they
are probably in the Kure area since we haven't heard from them
in a long time and they may be rafitting as they finished
operations only a month and a half ago,' and it wae then vhen he
with a twinkle in his eye, said, 'Do you mean to say they could
be rounding Diamond Kead?!' or worde to that effect. In other
words, he wae impressing me on my complete ignorance as to their
exact location,

"MR. SONNETT: He was conscious, therefore, of your lack of in-
formation about those carriers?

CAPTAIN LAYTON: Thie incident has been impressed on my mind.

I do not say that I quote him exactly, but I do know that he made

such u etatement to me in a way to point out to me that I ehould

know whare they ars but hadn't so indicated their location."

It 48 to be noted further that, as set forth in Admiral Hewitt's
report, the daily communication intelligenoe summaries received by
Admiral Kimmel stated, on December 3rd, that: "Almost a complete blank
of information on the carriers today. Lack of identifications has some-

what promoted this lack of information. However, since over 200 service
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calls have been partially identified since the change on the first of
December and not one garrier call has been recovered, it is evident that
carrier traffic ie at a low ebb." and that the daily summaries delivered

to Admiral Kimmel thereafter, and prior to the attack, indicated that there
was no information as to Japaneee carriers.

In viev of the foregoing, I do not approve tha above finding by
the Naval Court of Inquiry. I concur entirely in the comment of the
Commander in Chief, U. 8. Fleet, concerning thie finding. I am of the
view that the information as to the location and movements of the
Japanese naval forces which was received by Admiral Kimmel during the
week preceding the attack, coupled with all the other information which
he had received, including the "war warning® and other messages from the
Chief of Naval Operations, should have been interpreted as indicating
that an attack on Hawaii was not unlikely and that the time of such an
attack could be predicted within fairly narrow limits.

(n) 8ourt of Inquiry Finding XIII (3178), It is here stated
that Admiral Kimmel's decieion not to conduct daily long-range reconnais-
sance was sound; that there were insufficient planes for this purpose; and
that such use of the available planes was not justified.

The Commander i{n Chief, U, S. Fleet, in his endoreement to the Naval
Court record pointe out that Admiral Kimmel had a difficult decision to
make in thies matter of r'econnaiuanco. and that there were many factore
to be coneidered. He states further, however, that after considering all
of the information that was at Admiral Kimmel's dieposal, it apvears that
Admiral Kimmel was not on entirely sound ground in making no attempt at
long-range reconnaissance, particularly ee the situation became more and
more tense in che few days immediately preceding the Japanese attacks.
This comment adds that it is obvious that the means available did not
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permit an all-round daily reconnaissance to a distance necessary to detect
the spprosch of carriers before planes oculd be launched, but that there
wers, however, certain sectors more dangercus than others which could have
been covered to some extent, and that euch particular cover would have been
logical in the ciroumstances knowmn to Adwiral Kimmel in late November and
early December. Attention is called tothe fact that Adwirel Richardson had
maintained distant recomnaissance, using the few patrol planes at his
disposal, to cover the most dangerous sectars in rotation, and that these
patrols were discontimied when or shartly before Admiral Kimmel relieved
Adwiral Richardson.

In addition to these comments, with which I ooncur, it may be noted
that Admirel Kimmel himself had maintained a psrtial long renge patrol in
the summer of 1541 on the basis of Intelligence received and reparted by
Admiral Bloch at that time.

The following findings by Admiral Hewitt in commsction with the
question of sir recormaissance are spproved:

77, Admiral Kimmel testified before the Kaval Court of

Inquiry that he decided on November 27th that there should be

no distant recomnaissance.®

#78, There is no evidence of any specific discussion between

Admiral Kimmel and mmbers of his staff on or after the receipt

of the "war warning,® as to the advisability or practicability of

long range recornaisssnce from Oshu. The War Flans Offi cer

thought that the subject must have been discussed, tut could

recall no specific discussion. The Commander of the Fleet Patrol

planes, who had not been infarmed of any of the significant warning

messages, testified that Adwiral Kimmel had nosuch discussion

with him,®

%87, The Fleet patrol planes available st Oshu inthe week

preced! ng the attack were not sufficient to bave conducted

360 degres recomaissance daily for more than a few days.”

289, There were sufficient Fleet patrol planes and crews in

faot available at Oshu during the week preceding the attack

t0 have flom, for at least several weeks, a daily recomnaissance
covering 128 degrees to a distanoce of about 700 miles.v
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w90, The sectors narth of Oshu were generally recogniged as being
the most likely sectors from which a Japanese attack would come,
if the Japanese were to attack Pearl Harbor.®

%9l, If a daily distant reconnaissance had been flomn from Oshu
after 27 November 1941, with the available patrol plspes, the
northern sectors probably would have been searched.*

7101, The Japanese carriers launched their planes from a poeition
200 miles due north of Oshu.®

(n) Court of Inquiry Finding XIV (1182), is states in
substance that the Army radar detection system was ineffective.

The evidence supperts the substance of the comment on this finding,
which is made in the Seoond Pndorsement; that is, that although the radar
detection system in operation at Pearl Harbor was in an embryonic state,
neverthelesc, even in its then condition it cculd have and should have
served to give at least an hour's warning of the attacke I concur in
this comment and also approve the following conclusion by Admiral Hewitt:

n15, The aircraft warning system was being operated by the Army

during certain periode of the day primerily for training purposes,
and, although nc. fully developed, could have served to give scme
warning of the approach of Japanese sircraft."
(o) Court of Inquiry Findings XV (1186). This states that
the best professional opinion in the United States and Great Britain,

prior to 7 December 1941, was that an airoraft torpedo attack undex
conditions of shoal water and limited approact such as thoed wiich
obtained at Pearl Harbar, was not practicable, and that the Japanese
attack was successful principally because of the employment of a special-
ly designed torpedo, which was a secret weapon.

The only omment in the Second Endorsement on this finding is that:
%It is evident in retrospect thav the capabilities of Japansse sircraft
torpedoes were sericusly underestimated.” The prinoipal point upon which
the Coart of'mquiry seems to rest its findings is the further finding ths
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it was not believed by imerican ani British naval aunthorities at that time
that torpedoes could be successfully launched from aircraft in wmters as
shallow as those at Pearl Harbar. As a basis for this view the Court relies
upon a letter by the Chief of Naval Operations early in 1941 in which be
indicated that torpedoes could not be successfully launched from airplanes
in water undera minimum depth of 75 feet (water at Pearl Harbar being
sprroximately LS feet)e It is noted that the Court also refers to a sub-
sequent letter put out for the Chief of Naval Operations in June 19L1,
by Adwiral Ingersoll, which is in conflict with the Court's finding.

This letter stated, among othar things, thats "It camnot be assumed that
any capital or other valuable vessel is safe when at anchor from this type
of attack if surrounded by water at a sufficient distance to permit an
attack to be developed and a sufficient run to arm the torpedo.® This
letter also advised that torpedoes launched by the British at Tarento
were, in general, in 13-15 fathoms of water, although several may have
beenn lamunched in 11-12.

The reconds of the Navy Department indicated that in April, 19i1,
there was circulated in the Department an Intelligence report which
described the demonstration of an aerial torpedo in England. It appears
fromthis report that the torpedo described was equipped with special
wings, and that it required no greater depth of water for its successful
launching than the depth at which it made its normal rwm.

It further appears from the records of the Navy Departiment that the
British reported sircraft torpedo attacks during the yer 1940 inwhich
torpedoes were successfully lsunched in L2 feet of water.

Finally, there is evidence in the recard to indicate that nearly &
year prior to the actual attack, the feasibility and even the probakility

of an sirplane torpedo attack upop Pearl Harbor wes oantsmplated.
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Secretary Knox's letter of January, 1941, listed an air torpedo attack
as second only to air bombing in order of probability in a liast of the
types of attack upon Pearl Harbor which he considered likely. His letter
had been previously cleared with Admiral Stark, and was received in
February by Admiral Kimmel.

In view of the foregoing, the finding of the Court of Inquiry is
not approved.

(p) Court of Inquiry Finding XVI (1188). The Court here

finds that Admiral Kimmel's decision to continue preparation of the Fleet

for war, made after receiving the 24 November dispatch, was sound in
light (a) of the approval of the steps which he had taken after the dis-
patch of 16 October which advised that hostilities were possible, and
(b) the information then available to him including Admiral Stark's letter
of 17 October 1941 and the dispatch of 24 November, 1941, which stated
that a surprise aggressive movement in any direction, including attack on
the Phillippines or Guam, was a possibility.

The Secona Endorsement summarizes the Court's finding and under-
scores t?ac portion of the 24 November dispatch which indicated that:

"4 surprise aggressive movement in any direction, including attack on

the Philippines or Guam is a poseibility...."

It should be further noted that Admiral Kimmel testified that the
words, "A surprise aggressive movement in any direction, including
attack on the Philippines or Guam;" meant to him that any attack other
than on those two places would be on foreign territory, but that the words
also included the possibility of a submarine attack on the Hawailan
Islands.

The Court refers in its finding to a part of a personal letter
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sent by Admiral Stark to Admiral Kimmel on 17 October, in which Admiras
Stark otated: "Pereonally, I do not believe the Japs are going to sail
into us and the message I sent you merely stated the possibility; in fact,
I tempered the message handed me considerably." However, the letter also
continued: "Perhaps I am wrong, but I hope not. In any case, after long
pow-wows in the Vihite House, it was felt that we should be on guard, at
least until something indicates the trend." To the letter was annexed a
postscript stating in part: "Qeneral Marshall just cslled up and was
anxious that we made some sort of reconnaissance so that he could feel
assured tlat on arrival at Wake, a Japanese raider attack may not be in
order on his bombers. I told him that we could not assure against any
such contingency, but that I felt it extremely improbable and that, while
we keep track of Japanese ships so.far as we can, a carefully planned
raid on any of thsse island carriers in the Facific might be difficult to
detect. However, we are on guard to the best of our ability, ind my advice
to him was not to worry."

It is noted that the Court does not apecifically deal with the
question of the soundness of Admiral Kimmel's decision to continue pre-
paration of the Fleet, in the light of the highly iuportant information
which he received from the Chief of Naval Operations and otherwise during
the critical period after the "war warning" of November 27th.

(q) Court of Inquiry Finding XVII (1193). The Court here

finds that there were good grounds for believing that the Japanese would

attack in the Far East.

In respect of this finding, the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet,
points out that the Far East was the most probeble scene for the initiation
of Japanese operationa, and that they were in fact initiated there. He

notes further that all concerned recognized the possibility that such a
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commencement of hostilities would be accompanied by an attack upon Pearl
Harbor. He adds that this latter possibility was considerably strengthened

by information available at ‘Washington, all of which was not available to

Admiral Ximmel.

It appears from the evidence obtained in Admiral Hewitt's investi-

gation that the possibility that the commencement of hostilities by Japan
would include an attack upon Pearl Harbor was alsc strengthened by in-
formation received by Admiral Kimmel on and after the war warning of
November 27th. The eatimatéa that had been made in the War Plans, which
had been approved by Admiral Kimmel, of course cgptemplnted that in the
event of war with the Japanese a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor was
distinctly possible. The information received by Adqiral Kimmel as to
the location and movement of Japanese naval forces was, at the least,
congsistent with these estimites. The following conclusion of Admiral
Hewitt in this connection is approved:

n23. The information as to Japanese naval forcee which
vwas available to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, emphas-
izing the movement of forces to the southward, tended to con-
centrate his attention on the probability of Japanese attacks on
the Philippines and Malaysia. The information which was received
by Admiral Kimmel during the first week of December 1941 indicated,
however, that on December lst there was an unusual change in
Japanese radio call eigns; that, on the basis of all information
up to December 2nd, no reliable .estimate couiud be made of the
whereabouts of four of Japan's ten carriers, and that there was no
information as to any of the carriers thereafter. The absence of
positive information as to the location of the Japanese carriers,
a study of the movement which was possible to them, under radio
silence, through the unguarded areas of the Pacific, and a due
appreciation of the possible effects of an air attack should have
induced Admiral Kimmel to take all practicable precautions to
reduce the effectiveness of such an attack . . . ."

(r) Court of Inquiry Findings XVIII and XIX (1196).
These state in substance that Admiral Stark's failure from 26 November to
7 December 1941 to transmit to Admiral Kimmel important information in

his possession, obtained from intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages;
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and summarized in the addendum to the Court's findings of facts,
constitutes a military error.

The comment of the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet, as to this
finding was to the effect that Admiral Stark was at fault in failing to
give Admiral Kimmel an adequate summary of information available in
Washington.

The endorsement of the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet, on the
Naval Court of Inquiry Record, further pointed out that Lear Admiral
Wilkinson, former Director of Naval Intelligence, was not available to
the Court as a witnees. It was noted that these findings, and the con-
clusions of the Court based therecn, were concerned principally with the
handling of enemy information in the Navy Department, and that consequent-
1y, it would seem essential to a thorough exploration of the facts to have
the testimony of the Director of Naval Intelligence, who wae largely re-
sponsible for handling this information. It was concluded that the failure
to obtain this testimony was unfortunate.

With this comment by the Commander in Chief, U. S. Fleet, I con-
curred. It further appeared to me that the testimony of Captain McCollum,
who was assigned to the Office of Naval Intelligence, and who, according
to other testimony in the record, had important duties in connection
with the handling of such intercepted enemy information, would be most
helpful. Captain UcCollum was also unavailable as a witness to the Court.
I ascertained that at the time both Hear Admiral Wilkinson and Captain
McCollum were actively engaged in combat operations against the enemy,
and would be so engaged until some date in the future. From the nature
of the duties which these officeras were performing in their assignments,

I determined trat in view of the paramount present needs of the war effort,

their testimony in this matter could not then feasibly be obtained.
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During his later investigation, Admiral Hewitt was able to
obtain the testimony of Admiral Wilkinson and of Captain McCollum, as
well as other testimony bearing upon this finding of the Court of Inquiry.
The following conclusions of Admiral Hewitt in -this connectiom are approved:

"5. Information was promptly and efficiently obtained
by the United States Navy and Army intelligence organizations
in washington, concerning the Japanese Government's actual
views as to the diplomatic negotiations and its intention to
wage war, by means of interception, descryption, and transla-
tion »f Japanese diplomatic messages."

"6. The information which was obtained in Washington by
the War and Navy Departments from Japanese diplomatic messages
was fully exchanged. The information which was obtained by the
Navy Department as to Japanese naval movements was available
to the intelligence officers of the var Depurtment in Washington.
The War Department had information which led that Department to
believe that Japanese naval forces were in the Marshalls in
November, 1941. This appears from a VWar Department dispatch of
26 November 1941 to General Short, information to Admiral Kimmel,
concerning a special photographic reconnaissance to be flown over
Truk and Jaluit, in order to obtain information, among other
things, as to the number and location of naval vessels. The
reconnaissance was not flown because the special Army planes were
not made ready." . . .

"8, The information obtained by the Navy Department
from intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages was adequately
disseminated within the Navy Department.

"9, Although Admiral Kimmel some months before had made
requests that he be kept fully informed on subjects of interest
to the Fleet and as to all important developments, the Chief of
Naval Cperations did not communicate to him important in-
formation which would have aided him materially in fully evaluat-
ing the seriousness of the situation. In particular, the failure
to transmit the State Department message of November 26th and
to send, by telephone or other expeditious means, informat.ion
of the "l p.m." message and its possible import, were unfortunate.

"10. Admiral Kimmel, nevertheless, did have sufficient
information in his possession to indicate that the situation
was unusually serious, and that important developments with
respect to the outbreak of war were imminent. This included the
"war warning" message and similar important messages which
were sent by the Chief of Naval Operations.

"1l., The available informution in the possession of the
Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, as to the existing situation,
particularly the "war warning" message, was not disseminated
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to all of his important subordinate commanders whose cognizance
thereof was desirable. Thus Admiral Bellinger, who commanded
the patrol planes, and admiral Newton, who was at sea with a
carrier and other units, were not informed of this and other
important messages."

12, The following conclusions by Admiral Hewitt concerning
the intelligence secured by tapping the wires of the Japanese Consulate
General at Hawaii and by intercepting cable messages of the Japanese

Consulate General are approved.

Conclusion 12, "Despite the fact that prior to the attack the
telephone lines of the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu were
tapped and that various of his cable messages were secured at
Honolulu, no information was obtained prior to December 7th which
indicated the likelihood of a Japanese attack. The legal re-
strictions which denied access to such cable messages were a
definite handicap to the intelligence agencies in the Hawaiian
area,"

Conclusion 13, "Although various messages of the Japanese Consul
General at Honolulu, which indicated Japaneseinterest in specifie
locations of ships in Pearl Harbor, were intercepted by radio
intercept stations of the Army and Navy and decrypted prior to
the attack, this information was not transmitted by the Navy
Department to admiral Kimmel. Certain other messages which were
intercepted by the Army prior to 7 December 1941, indicated the
likellhood of attack on Pearl Harbor but were not decrypted or
brought to the attention of the Navy prior to the attack,
apparently because the Army did not have sufficient personnel

for such work,"

13. In its final opinion and recommendation, the Court of
Inquiry finds that no offemses have been committed or serious blams
incurred on the part of any person or persons in the Naval service, and
recommends that no further proceedings be had in the matter.

With respect to this opinion and recommendation of the
Court of Inquiry, I concur in the comment expressed in paragraph 5 of
the Second Endorsement that the Navy cannot avoid a share of responsibili-
ty for the Pearl Harbor incident, and that disaster cannot be regarded
as an "act of God" beyond human power to prevent or mitigate. Whether

or not it is true, as stated in the Second Endorsement, that the Country_
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as a whole is basically responsible in that the people were unwilling to
take adequate measures for defense until it was too late to repair the
consequences of their failure so to do, it appears that the Navy as a
whole, although its ranking officers were fully informed of the moat
recent developments in the science of warfare, failed to appreciate the
true significance of those developments until their impact had been felt
by a blow struck at a substantial portion of the Fleet. By the same
token, although the imminence of hostile action by the Japanese was known,
and the capabilities of the Japanese Fleet and Air Arm were recognized
in war plans made to meet just such hostile action, these factors did not
~reach the stage of conviction in the minds of the responsible officers
of the Navy to an extent sufficient to impel them to bring about that
implementation of the plans that was neceasary if the initial hostile
attack was to be repelled or at least mitigated.
That this is so is manifested in the case of the instant
disaster in sevéral important respects.
(a) The destructive potentiality of air attack was not

properly evaluated, although there was ample information available on
this subject in the reports of action by and against the British. That
this information was recognized is shown by the inclusion in war and
defense plans of appropriate provisions for defense against this type

of attack, but that it was not fully appreciated is shown by the fact
that these selfsame provisions were not put into effect until the initial
attack had been succesaful.

(b) In respect of unity of command, again all of the plans
made adequate provision for joint action, mutual interchange of intelli-

gence, and the fullest utilization of all of the available resources of
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both fhe Arwy and the Navy; in practies, none of these measures came
into being to any appreciable extent prior to the attack.

(4) W¥ithin the Navy itself, the organisation was such as to
submerge the (hief of Naval Operations in a waltiplicity of detail per-
taining to the procurement and material programs incidental to the rapid
sxpansion of the Navy, This precluded him from giving to war plans and
cperations the {mdivided and continuing attention which sexperience has
shown they require, and tended to dull his perception of the critical
significance of evente,

In making these obssrvations, I am not unmindful of the

usual advantage of hindsight, nor do I cvarlook the fact that this war
has proved that any carrier etrike, when praseed home with resolution,
is almost impossidle to deflect. After giving due coneideration, however,
to all theee factors, I am of the opinion that thers were, nevertheleass,
areae in which sound military judgement dictated the taking of action
which, though it might not have prevented or defeated the attack, would
have tended materially to reduce the damage which the attack was sble
tc inflict. Such action was not taken, and the responsidility must center
unon the officers who had it in their power, each within his respective
sphera, to take aporopriate action.

14. 1 concur, therefore, with the opinion expressed in paragraph
5 of the Second Sndorsement to the Court of Inquiry record that it is
pertinent to examine the poseidle courses of action which Admiral Stark
and Admiral Kimmel, as the responsidle officers, might have taken to

1sasen the success of the initial Jspanese dlow.
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(a) In p;ngnmh 6 of the Second Endorsement, it is pointed out
that Admira)l Btark failed to give Admiral Kimmel an adequate summary of
\
information available in Washington, particularly in respeot of1

(1) The State Department reply of 26 November 1941 to
the Japaness, which was regarded by the Japanese as an ultimatum;

(2) The intercepted Jananese messages inquiring as to the
disposition of shipe within Pearl Harbor;

(3) The implementation of the "winds" message;

(4) In failing to aporeciate the significance of the
"one p.n, messaga® received on the morning of 7 December 1941,
and in the failure to transmit it to Mlurnl Kimmel by the
quickest means available.

(5) Tinally, 1t is pointed out 1n this eection of the
Second Endorsement that thére is a gertain sameness.of tenor
in the communications sent by Admiral Stark to Admiral Kimmel
which fafled to convay the sense of intensification of critical
relations betwsen Japan and the United States.

I concur generally with ‘these comments wxcept as to (3) and
(6). In connection with the failure of Admiral Stark to advise Admiral
Kimmel of the implementation of the "winds” message, the following con-
olusion by Admiral Hewitt is approveds

"7. Although the Japansse Government established in their
diplomatic messages a code, known as the "winds" code, to bde umed
in radio droadoasts in order to convey information to ite reore-
sentatives as to the status of relations betwmaen Japan and other
countries, no message was intercepted orior to the attack which
used the code words relating to the United States.”

Al though there may be some basis for the comment that prior
to 27 Fovember 1941 there was a certain sameness of tone in the communi-
cation sent by Admiral Stark to Admiral Ximmel, it should be noted that
the message of November 27 was stronger than any message which Admiral
Stark sent previously to Admiral Kimmel. That message read ae follows:

STHIS DISPATCH IS TO BX CONSIDERED A WAR WARNIRG X NRGOTIATIONS
WITH JAPAY LOGKING TOWARD STABILIZATION OF CONDITIONS IN THE
PACIFIC HAVE CEASKD AND AN AGGRESSIVE MOVE BY JAPAY IS EXPECTED
WITHIN THY NFX? FEW DAYS X THY NUMB'R AD EQIIPMFNT OF JAPANESE
TROOPS AID THE ORGANIZATION OF NAVAL TASX FORCES INDICATE AN
AMPEIBIOUS EXPEDITION AGAINST EITHFR THE PRILIPPINES (printed in
ink, "thai") OR KRA PENINSULA OR POSSIBELY BORNEC X EXECUTE AN
APPROPRIATE DEFEFSIVR DEPLOYMENT PRFPARATORY TO CARRYING OUT THE
TASKS ASSIGNED IN WPL 46 X INPORM DISTRICT AUD ARMY AUTRORITIES X
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A SIMILAR WARNING IS BEING SENT BY WAR DEPARTMENT X SPENAVO

INFORN BRITISH X CONTINENTAL DISTRICTS GUAM SAMOA DIRECTED

TAKE APPROPRIATE MEASURES AGAINST SABOTAGE"

Concerning the other comments by the Commandsr in Chief, Ue. S.
Fleet, it might be added that Admiral Stark's omission consisted not
cnly in the failure to transmit fully to Admiral Kimmel certain of the
available information, but also in the failure properly and speedily
to evaluate that information, particularly on 7 December 19L1.

The evidence shows that the State Department reply to the
Japanese of 26 November 1941 was in fact regarded by them as an ultima-
tum; that it was known in the Navy Department before 1 December 1941 that
the Japamsse regarded the reply as unacceptable; that it was known,
as early as 1 December 1941, that the Japanese proposed to strike without
warning. It was further known that subsequent to their receipt of the
State Department's note the Japanese were directing their emissaries in
the Umited States to do everything in their power to allay any suspicion
of a hostile Japanese move. Against this background, there was received
on 6 December 1941, in the Navy Department, an intercepted Japanese message
to thelr emissaries here, which stated that a ll~-part reply to the State
Department 's note of 26 November 1941 was being transmitted, and further
that a specific tims far delivery of this reply would be transmitted from
Tokyo by a separate message. This message, together with the first
thirteen parts of the Japanmess reply were all available at the Navy Depart-
ment by 2100 hours of 6 December 1941, The language of the thirteen
parts of the Japanese reply then available indicated that the reply consti-
tuted a final breaking off of relations. All this pointed to ths con-
clusion that a wae attack was to be simultaneous with the delivery
of the Japanese massage., Thus, while it was not known on 6 December

precisely when the attack was to be delivered, there was ample evidence to
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base the conclusion that a surprise move was due within narrow limits
of time.

On the morning of December 7th, by 10:30, Admiral Stark had
all fourteen parts of the Japanese reply, which in its entirety made
explicit the breaking off of relations. He had as well the direction for
the delivery of that reply at one p.m., Fastern Standard Time, and there
was information available to him that this time corresponded to dawn at
Oahu and the middle of the night in the Far East. Although, as found by
Admiral Hewitt, no one stated that this indicated an air attack at Pearl
Harbor, yet all of these factors pointed to the possibility of such an
attack. An acute sensitivity to the tautness of the situation would
ha;e dictated at least a plain language talephone communication to Admiral
Kimmel, which might have provided a warning sufficient to bring about
some material reduction in damage inflicted by -the Japanese avtack.

(b) I concur with the comments set forth in paragraph 5(b) of the
Second &ndorsement to the Naval Court of inqpiry record. It is there
stated that Admiral Kimmel, despite the failure of Admiral Stark to keep
him fully informed, did have indications of the increasing tenseneas of
relations with Japan. In particular, it is pointed out that he had tha
"war warning'message on 27 November 1940, the "hostile action possible at
any moment" message on 28 November, the 3 December message that the
Japanese had ordered destruction of codes, and the messages of 4 and 6
December that the Japanese had crdered destruction of United States
secret and confidential matter at cutlying Pacific Islands.

In addition, it might be pointed out that Admiral Kimmel in his
personal letters, which are a part of the record before the Court, and
as well in "the war plans approved by him, explicitly recognized the

possibility of attack upon Pearl Harbor by air; and, that the information
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received by Admiral Kimmel cancerning the location and moveaent of Japanese
naval forces after 27 November 1941 should have been evaluated, as pre-
viously pointed out, as indicating-the continued and increaeing possi-
bility of such an attack., It is to de especially noted that while Admiral
Kimmel was directed in the war warning meesage of 27 Novemder 1941, and
sgain on 28 November when the Army message was relayed to him, to execute
an avpropriate defensive deployment preparatory to carrying out the tasks
assigned in the Navy Basic War Plan, the chief action taken dy him was
carrying forward the arrargements for the reenforcing of and continuing
the limited air patrols from the outlying islands, ordering on 28 November,
the depth domding of submarine contacts in the Oahu operating area, and
engaging in unproductive conferencee with General Short. He continued
in effect the primary fleet activity of training and the lowest condition
of readinese (Condition III) of the fleet in vort. Hae neither ordered
leng-range air reconnaissance from Oahu to any extent nor advised his fleet
air wing commander of the receipt of the war warning message. His fail-
ure to take other and more effective action is neither sxplainable nor
excusuble by an ambiguity in the meaning of or disagreement ae to what
would constitute ar "apnropriate defensive deployment." Admiral Ximmel
conld have referred to the initial tasks stated in the war plan of main-
taining fleet security at bases and guarding acaimst surprise attack by
Japan, and if he did not know what was meant by the phrase "avpronriate
defeneive deployment™, he whould have asked tha Chief of Naval Operations
for an explanation.

The Second Endorsement to the Naval Court record states that
Adniral Ximmel could and should have judged more accurately the gravity of

the denger to which the Hawaiian Islands were exvosed, and that certain

courses of action were open te bim, ¥ig:
702



2424 CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION PEARL HARBOR ATTACK

CONFIDENTIAL

(1) He ooculd have used the patrol aircraft available to
him to conduct long-range reconnaissance in the more dangerous
sectors, and thus made the Japanese task more difficult, whether
or not this would have resulted in the detection of the approach
of the Japenese carriers; (2) He could have rotated the ®in port®
periods of his vessels in a less routine manner, and thus made it
more difficult for the Japanese to have predicted when there would
be any vessals in ports (3) He could have maintained a higher
condition of readiness under which Naval planes would have been in
the air during the early morning period, ships! batteries would have
been fully manned, and damage control organizations fully operational.

Admiral Hewitt's report concludes in part:

"The absence of positive information as to the location of
Japanese carriers, a study of the movement which was possible to them,
under radio silence, through the unguarded areas of the Pacifio, and a
due appreciation of the possible effects of an air attack should have in-
duced Admiral Kimmel to take all practicable precautions to reducs ths
effectiveness of such an attack. The measures which reasonably were open
to him were;

*(a) Establishment of long distance air reconnaissance, cover-
ing the most probable approach sectors to the extent pcesible, on
a reasonably permanent basis, with available planes and crews,

%(b) Eatablishment of & higher candition of anti-aircraft
readiness, at least during the dangerous dawn hours.

n(c) Establishment of & higher degree of damage acamntrol
readiness by ships in port, particularly during the dangerous
dawn hourse

%(d) Installation of snti-torpedo nets to protect the
larger vessels in porte

#(e) Maintenance of a striking force at sea in readiness
to intercept possible attack forces,

#(f) Maintenance of the maximum farce of the Fleet at sea,
with entry into part at irregular intervals.

n(g) Checking with Army as to readiness of anti-aircraft
defense and aircraft warning installations.®

I concur with these coments as to the various courses of
aotin which Adniral Kimmel could have and should have taken. The evidence
indlicates clsarly, however, that his most grievous failure was his failure
to conduct long-range &ir reconnaissance in the more dangerous sectors

from Oshu during the week preceding the attacke That this is so is
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manifest from the evidence obtained by Admiral Hewitt and from his
following conclueion, which is hereby apnroved.

Conclusion 14, "The only practicable sources from which Admiral

Kimmel could have secured information, after the receipt of the

lwar warning,! as to the aporoach of the attacking force, were

the aircraft warning service, traffic snalyses of Japanere haval

communicetions, and distant air reconnalssance from Cahu,.®

During the critical neriod after Wovember 27 the limitaticne

of the aircraft warning service and of radio intelligence vere evident;
the only remaining oracticable source upon which Admiral Kirrel was
entitled to rely for informetion as to the Jananese naval movements was
diatant‘ air reconnaissance which, covering the moet probable apnnroach
beerings, would as Admiral Hewitt concluded have had a reasonablae chance
of success, The fallure to detect the approach of the Japaneee task forc:
contributed more to the succeses of the Japanese attack than did any other
single factor.

In addition to the courses of action referred to by the

Commander in Chief, U, S. Fleet and by Admiral Hewitt, it wag, of course,

alvays open to Admiral Kimmel aleo to take steps to increase cooperation
between his organization and the Army command, and to attemmt to achieve
effective joint command.. That conditions were ideal for his accomplishing
such an objective is indiceted by the evidence in the record end the find-
ing of the Court that the social relationship between him and General Short
wvas excellent. The need for Admiral Kimmel taking such measguren existed
from the time he took command of the Pactfic Fleet. It increased in
urgency as the 7th of December, 1941, aporoached,
: 15, The Second Endorsement of the Commander in Chief, U. S, Fleet,
to the Naval Court record concludes that:

"6. The derelictionr on thepart of Admiral Stark and

Admiral Ximwel were faults of omission rather than faults of
commieeion. In the caea in question , thay indicate lack of the
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superior judgment necessary for exercising command commensurate
with their rank and their assigned duties, rather than culpable
inefficiency.

"7, Since trial by general court martial is not warranted
by the evidence adduced, appropriate administrative action would
appear to be the relegution of both of these officers to positions
in which lack of superior judgment may not result in future
errors.”

16. >In his endorsement to aAdmiral Hewitt's report the Commander-
in-Chief, U. S. Fleet, states in part:

"I concur in general in the remarks and recommendations
of the Judge Advocate General as expressed in the second endorse-
ment, In answer to the specific questions asked in the first
endorsement, the following opinions are submitted:

"(a) I am of the opinion that the evidence is not
sufficient to warrant trial by court martial of any person
in the Naval Service, in that the evidence will not sustain
the charges required by the Articles for the Government of
the Navy.

"(b) With regard to the sufficiency of the evidence to
warrant other proceedings, I am still of the opinion, which
1 have previously expressed, that Admiral Stark and Admiral
Kimmel, though not culpable to a degree warranting formal
disciplinary action, were nevertheless inadequate in emergency,
due to the lack of the superior judgment necessary for
exercising command commensurate with their duties.

"(c) Appropriate action appears to me to be the relegation
of both of these officers to positions in which lack of
superior strategic judgment may not result in future errors.
The action has been taken in the case of both Admiral Stark
and Admiral Kimmel. No further action is recommended.

"(d) For the reasons stated by the Judge Advocate General,
I consider it impracticable to bring Admiral Stark and Admiral
Kimmel, or either one of them, to trial prior to the termina-
tion of hostilities with Japan, nor are court martial or
other proceedings (prior to the termination of hostilities
with Japan) advisable because such proceedings would almost
certainly involve disclosure of information which would be
detrimental to current military operations and to national
security measures.”

17. The Judge Advocate General in making his endorsement to
Admiral Hewitt's report states in part:

1. "Subject report clarifiea obscure points and supplies
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omissions in the eerlier investigations. It is coneidered that
this and former investigations, taken together, present as
clear a picture of the pertinent facts as will ever be adduced.
With this report, therefore, I believe the investigation of the
Pearl Harbor attack shemid be considered completed.

2. "Admiral Hewitt's r2port brings out and confirms a distinction

which impressed me at the time of studying the earlier investi-
gations, a distinction which does much to clarify thinking on the
question of placing responsibility for the Pearl Harbor disaster.
It appears that there was no lack of appreciation on the part of
any of the responsible officers that war was coming, and coming

quickly, during the critical period immediately preceding 7 December

1941, The point on which those officers failed to exercise the
discernment and judgment to be expected from officers occupying
their positions, was their failure to appreciate, from the informa-
tion available to them, that Pearl Harbor was a likely target for
aerial attack and their failure to take the neceasary steps to
prevent or minimize such a surprise attack. Each of these
officers, in estimating the critical situation, demonstrated a

poor quality of strategical planning, in that he largely ruled out
all possible courses of action by which the Japanese might begin
the war except through an attack in the Western Pacific.

3. "I do not believe that the lack of more complete understand-
ing and co-operation between Admiral Kimmel and Lieutenant

General Short had any great effect on the ultimate result; for it
is abundantly shown that they each entertained the same fallacious
views, and closer understanding would most likely merely have
strengthened those views, Likewise, I submit that tle importance
of information from Japanese sources has been overemphasized; for
had more basically sound principles been observed, the Pearl
Harbor disaster would not have occurred. The security of Pesarl
Harbor was the very core of our Pacific strategy, a fact which

did not receive sufficient consideration in the strategic concept
of responsible officers,

L. "In answer to the specific questions asked in the first
endorsement, the following opinions are submitted:

(a) As is more fully developed in the anawer to question (b),
it is not believed that there is sufficient evidence to warrant
conviction of any of the officers concerned of any offense
known to naval law,

(b) Under the facts of this case, there are only two offenses
which are worthly of consideration: (1) Neglect of Duty
and (2) Culpable Inefficiency in the Performance of Duty.
Under either charge it would be necessary to define the duty of
the officer concerned, and to show that it was his duty to follow
a course of action other than the one he did. In my cpinion
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this would be imposaible, as the acts of omission of these
officers do not rise above the status of errors of judgment.

No clearly defined duty can be established which was neglected or
improperly performed. As stated by Fleet Admiral King, in his
endorsement on the findings of the Court of Inquiry, the evidence
in the case boils down to the fact that the acts of the officers
in question "indicate lack of superior Jjudgment necessary for
exercising command commensurate with their rank and their
assigned duties, rather than culpable inefficiency." "Lack of
Superior Judgment" is not an offense triable by general court-
martial.

* * #*

(d) The requirements of 39th Article for the Government of the
Navy and Section 346 of Naval Courts and Boards pertaining to
the rank of members of a general court martial will make it most
difficult to comstitute a court for the trial of the officers
here concerned during war time or during a period of six months
after the cessation of hostilities. Many of the officers of
appropriate rank, both on the active and the retired lists,
would be disqualified because of interest in the subject matter,
the probability of being called as a witness, or by virtue of
having been connected with one of the investigations into the
matter. If more than one of the officers in question are
brought to trial, an entirely new court would be necessary in
each case, as members who had tried a former case arising out

of the Pearl Harbor attack would be subject to challenge. The
Summoning of the necessary witnesses would result in temporarily
removing from their duty stations many of the key officers in
the naval organization. For the foregoing reasons, I am of the
opinion that any such court martisl proceedings prior to the
end of hostilities with Japan is highly impractical and would
be detrimental to the war effort, and further, that any such
proceedings during the six months immediately following the end
of hostilities would seriously impair the efficiency of the
naval service."

* * *

On the basis of the record, findings, opinion, and recommenda-

tion of the Court of Inquiry, the First Endorsement of the Judge

Advocate General thereto, and the Second tndorsement of the Communder-

in-Chief, U. S. Fleet, thereto; the record findings and conclusions of

Admiral Hewitt, and the Second and Third Endorsements thereto; and on the

basis of the foregoing comments, I conclude that:

(a) Then Rear Admiral Claude C. Bloch discharged his duties
adequately.
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(b) Then Admiral Husband E. Kimmel and Admiral Harold R. Stark,
particularly during the period from 27 November to 7 December
1941, failed to demonstrate the superior judgment necessary for
sxercising command commensurate with their rank and their assigned
duties.

(c) Both of these officers having been retired, appropriate
action should be taken to insure that neither of them will be
recalled to active duty in the future for any position in which
the exercise of superior judgment may be necesasary.

(d) The appropriate committees of Congress should be fully
acguainted with the Navy's investigations into this matter, and
rublic disclosure of the facts concetning the Japanese attack
on Pearl Harbor, obtained in these investigations, should be made
as soon as such action can be taken without injuring current
military operations or the national security.

19. Accordingly, I direct:

(a) Rear Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, USN (Retired), shall not
hold any position in the United States Nuvy which requires the exsrcise
of superior judgment.

(b) Admiral Harold R. Stark, USN (RetiredJ, shall not hold
any position in the United States Navy which requires the exercise of
superior judgment.

(c) The appropriate committees of Congress will be fully
acquainted with the Navy's investigations into this matter, and public
disclosure of the facts concerning the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor,
obtained in these investigations, will be made as soon as such action
can be taken without injuring current military operations or the
national security.

SECRETARY OF THE NAVY "
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(B) Navy's Offer to Eser Admira] Kimmel of Court Martial,

On 7 September 1943 Rear Admiral Kizmel wrote to the
Secretary of the Navy stating that he desired "to be brought to trial
by General Court Martial in open court at the earliest practicable
date", On 28 August 1945 Secretary Forrestal offered a General
Court Martial to Rear Admiral Kimmel if the same were atill desired
by the latter, The letter of Secretary Forrestal to Rear Admiral
Kimmel read as follows:

"1, In your letter of September 7th, 1943, to the

Secretary of the Navy, you stated *It is my personal desire
to bc drought to trial by General Court Martial in open
court at the earliest practicable date.!

®2. In his letter to you the Secretary of the Navy gave

you hie assurance that a trial before General Court Martial
would be had at the earliest practicable date that the public
interest and safety would permit, In view of the present
state of the war and in view of this aesurance of the Secre-
tary of the Navy I am disposed to order your trial by
General Court Martial in open court in the event that you
still desire to be so tried,

¥3., It 1a requested that you advise me promptly

whether or not you desire to be tried by General Court
Martial,"

On 8 September 1945 Rear Admiral Kirmel replied in
writing to the Secretary's letter of 28 August 1945, stating that
he desired to defer replying to the Secretary's inguiry whether he
(Eimmel) otill desired a Court Martial until after the pending
Joint Congressional Investigation of Pearl Harbor was completed,

This letter read as followe!
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%280 Bronxville Boad, Bronxville 8, N, Y,, 8 September
1945, TYrom: Rear Admiral E, X, Ximmel, U, 8, Navy,
(Retired). Tot The Secretary of the Navy, Subjsct: General
Court Nartial in my ocase,

*l, In view of the agitation for a Congressional
Investigation bdefore Congress reconvened and the action
of the Senate in ordering a Joint Congreesional Investi=
gation of Pearl Harbor, I wish to defer my reply to your
letter of 28 August 1945 until that Investigation is
completed,?
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